STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

 ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals

Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

FEB 12 2018

Opinion No. 2017-UP-009 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed January 11, 2017)

S.C. SUPREME COURT

2013-CP-22-468

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND
TREATMENT OF DARYL T. SNOW,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001033

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in holding that, in an SVP case, the State's expert's diagnosis of "Other Specified Personality Disorder," and no mental abnormality, paraphilia, or any specific personality disorder, was legally sufficient for commitment and this Court should reverse the trial judge's denial of a directed verdict and JNOV?

STATEMENT

On May 1, 2013, the State filed this action seeking the commitment of petitioner under the South Carolina Sexually Violent Predator Act. R. 248. Petitioner had two predicate convictions. R. 250. On May 21, 1996, petitioner pled guilty to assault with intent to commit criminal sexual conduct and received a sentence of ten years. R. 306. Reuben Goude represented petitioner. R. 306. On April 18, 2006, petitioner pled guilty to lewd act on a minor child. R. 259. Wesley Locklear represented petitioner. R. 195, ll. 2 – 3.

On February 9, 2015, petitioner was tried before the Honorable Steven H. John and a jury. R. 1. James G. Bogle, Jr. and Christopher Andrew Morrow represented the State. R. 1. James Kristian Falk represented petitioner. R. 1. The jury found petitioner was a sexually violent predator. R. 243, ll. 15 – 21. Judge John ordered petitioner committed. R. 246, l. 7 – 247, l. 6. On January 11, 2017, a panel of the Court of Appeals consisting of Judges Williams, Thomas, and Geathers affirmed petitioner's commitment without oral argument. App. 1-2. On March 27, 2017, the Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing. App. 10. On January 12, 2018, this Court granted the petition for certiorari and this brief follows.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in holding that, in an SVP case, the State's expert's diagnosis of "Other Specified Personality Disorder," and no mental abnormality, paraphilia, or any specific personality disorder, was legally sufficient for commitment and this Court should reverse the trial judge's denial of a directed verdict and JNOV.

Introduction

Daryl Snow's case presents a stark test of the limit of the power of the State. Despite the availability of laws to punish recidivist criminals, the State used a psychologist's diagnosis of "Other" to confine Daryl Snow as an SVP after he completed his criminal sentence. The State claims nearly unlimited power in this regard—in its Return to the Petition for Certiorari, the State wrote that "South Carolina's statute does not limit 'personality disorder' in any way, and therefore, **any** diagnosable personality disorder may serve as a predicate to civil commitment under the SVPA if the other statutory elements are established." State's Ret. Pet. Cert. at 14 (emphasis in original). This Court should reject the State's overreach and hold that the diagnosis in this case of "Other" is insufficient. Petitioner is a recidivist criminal and the State's diagnosis of "Other" does nothing to distinguish him from any other recidivist criminal. This Court should not accept the State's invitation to medicalize virtually all criminality. If the SVP statute can confine Daryl Snow, then it can confine anyone as long as they have a qualifying conviction.

Daryl Snow's Criminal History

Daryl Snow has a bad criminal record. R. 363-373. His NCIC report is ten pages long. R. 363-73. He has multiple arrests and convictions for crimes large and small. R. 363-73. His record includes disorderly conduct, hindering an officer, simple assaults, criminal domestic violence, and reckless driving. R. 363-73. It also includes very serious crimes like burglary, kidnapping, and

criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature. R. 363-73. Snow's qualifying convictions for the SVP statute were assault with intent to commit criminal sexual conduct from 1996 and lewd act on a minor child in 2006. R. 94, l. 3 – 95, l. 16.

It seems clear that at the time of Snow's convictions in 2006, the State could have sought a sentence of life without parole under South Carolina's recidivist statute. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(A). In 2004, the State charged Snow with first-degree burglary and first-degree assault with intent to commit criminal sexual conduct. R. 250. Had Snow been convicted of either of these crimes, they would have qualified as "most serious offenses," just as Snow's kidnapping and assault with intent to commit CSC convictions from 1996 were "most serious offenses." See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(A). It is likely that even Snow's guilty plea to second-degree burglary could have triggered the LWOP statute. Id. R. 250. The State chose not to pursue LWOP and accepted guilty pleas for lewd act and second-degree burglary, resulting in a fifteen-year sentence for Snow. R. 250. At the conclusion of his sentence, the Attorney General sought Snow's indefinite confinement in the SVP program. R. 248.

The Attorney General's Evidence

In its opening statement, the Attorney General declined to tell the jury what personality disorder they were going to prove Snow had. R. 76, l. 23 – 80, l. 18. The Attorney General told the jury they would have to prove he had a mental condition that made Snow likely to reoffend. R. 79, ll. 4 – 7. They told the jury they would hear from Dr. Marie Gehle ("Gehle") who evaluated Snow to "see if he had this mental condition, this abnormality or personality disorder that would make him likely to reoffend . . . and I'll tell you up front that she diagnoses him with a personality disorder that, in her opinion, makes him likely to reoffend unless he is confined for treatment." R. 79, l. 19 – 80, l. 7 (emphasis added). At no point in the Attorney General's opening did he specify Snow's

alleged personality disorder was “Other.” R. 76, l. 23 – 80, l. 18. The jury only heard the “Other” diagnosis after Dr. Gehle described the sordid details of Snow’s crimes. R. 122, ll. 2 – 5.

Dr. Gehle first described her work. R. 90, l. 15 – 94, l. 2. She began with a “packet of information” that she reviewed for “patterns” and to “see what the mental abnormality or personality disorder might be. . . .” R. 90, ll. 17 – 25. She described the goal of her evaluation was to see if Snow was “at risk to commit another sexually violent offense.” R. 90, l. 24 – 91, l. 2. She reviewed records and tried to “gather anything that’s missing,” such as mental health records. R. 91, l. 3 – 92, l. 9.

She interviewed Snow for two hours. R. 92, ll. 16 – 18. Dr. Gehle said as part of her interview that she does a detailed sexual history, including asking about masturbation and what the subject finds arousing. R. 91, ll. 16 – 21. Despite this detailed sexual history, Dr. Gehle never connected Snow’s sexual arousal patterns to his crimes and could not diagnose him with any paraphilias, such as pedophilia or biastophilia, “a disorder . . . associated with committing rape.” R. 146, l. 2 – 147, l. 4. Snow’s sexual offenses “were very different” from each other. R. 146, ll. 15 – 17. The patterns of Snow’s behavior were not “strong enough” to diagnose any paraphilia. R. 146, l. 2 – 147, l. 4. R. 129, ll. 17 – 19.

Dr. Gehle gave her diagnosis: **“Well, I diagnosed him with something called Other Specified Personality Disorder, and that disorder is a personality disorder when you can’t meet all the criteria for a specific personality disorder.”** R. 122, ll. 2 – 5 (emphasis added). She explained that closest she could come to a specific personality disorder was Antisocial Personality Disorder (“ASPD”), but she “didn’t have enough evidence.” R. 122, l. 22 – 123, l. 4. To make the diagnosis of ASPD, she needed evidence of conduct disorder prior to age fifteen,

but she did not have such evidence. R. 122, l. 22 – 123, l. 4. “Other” was the only diagnosis given Snow. Dr. Gehle claimed it was not a “catch-all.” R. 130, ll. 13 – 21.

Dr. Gehle said Snow had “a very anti-social personality, and a very anti-social world view, and that’s marked by just a consistent pervasive history of violating and disregarding the rights of others.” R. 122, ll. 7 – 11. Dr. Gehle opined that Other Specified Personality Disorder made Snow predisposed to commit sexually violent offenses in the future because “this disorder is basically that he disregards and violates the rights of others, and in large part that’s included women, and while that hasn’t always manifested in sexual violence it has numerous times, and therefore I believe that this disorder makes him likely to commit acts of sexual violence.” R. 123, l. 16 – 124, l. 5. She responded with conclusory, affirmative answers to the Attorney General’s boilerplate questions taken from the statute and the caselaw. R. 124, l. 6 – 125, l. 16.

Dr. Gehle also based her opinion on Snow’s score on the Static-99R, an actuarial risk assessment developed primarily in Canada. R. 115, l. 5 – 120, l. 4. She called the Static-99R “the best predictor of sexual recidivism” and placed Snow in the “high risk category.” R. 117, l. 4 – 119, l. 8. The Static-99R predicted that persons with Snow’s score reoffended sexually at a 30.6% rate within five years and a 39.7% rate within ten years. R. 119, ll. 3 – 8. The five-year recidivism rate for **all inmates** released by SCDC for 2012, the last year available, was **slightly higher** than the Static 99-R’s predicted rate for Snow, at 30.9%.¹

Dr. Gehle admitted on cross-examination that there were no specific diagnostic criteria for Other Specified Personality Disorder:

Q. Okay. But Other Specified Personality Disorder, if I looked into the DSM-4, or 5 here, am I going to find any diagnostic criteria for that specific diagnosis?

¹This data is from the Department of Corrections’ website.
<http://www.doc.sc.gov/research/SpecialReports/RecidivismRatesOfInmatesReleasedDuringFY2010-FY2014.pdf>.

A. There's a section that talks about when to use that diagnosis, but they are not listed out like the other diagnoses are.

R. 129, l. 25 – 130, l. 5. Dr. Gehle admitted that someone who had only three of the four qualifiers of Avoidant Personality Disorder could fit into Other Specified Personality Disorder. R. 136, l. 16 – 137, l. 24. Avoidant Personality Disorder is “a pattern of social inhibition, feelings of inadequacy, and hypersensitivity to negative evaluation.” DSM-V, at p. 645. Asked whether someone who had only four of the five criteria for Dependent Personality Disorder could fit into Other Specified Personality Disorder, Dr. Gehle responded, “Again, it would depend.” R. 137, l. 25 – 138, l. 5. Dependent Personality Disorder is “a pattern of submissive and clinging behavior related to an excessive need to be taken care of.” DSM-V, at p. 645. She agreed that the DSM-V states that approximately fifteen percent of adults in the United States have at least one personality disorder. R. 144, l. 10 – 145, l. 12. The DSM-V also specifically lists Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, Histrionic Personality Disorder, and Narcissistic Personality Disorder, among others. DSM-V at p. 645.

On cross-examination, Dr. Gehle testified that she did not even need evidence of Snow's qualifying sexual offenses to diagnose him with ASPD. R. 138, l. 6 – 143, l. 6. In response to a hypothetical, Dr. Gehle testified that even if petitioner did not have any sexually violent convictions, her diagnosis would not change. R. 138, l. 6 – 143, l. 6. She did, however, agree that she would not be testifying about her diagnosis if Snow lacked any qualifying offenses. R. 144, ll. 4 – 9.

The Directed Verdict Motion

The Attorney General rested after Dr. Gehle's testimony. R. 149, ll. 18 – 19. Snow moved for a directed verdict. R. 150, ll. 18 – 20. Snow argued that the Attorney General had not proved “a mental disease or defect that is the cause of the risk.” R. 150, ll. 19 – 24. Citing In the Matter of the

Treatment and Care of Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 568 S.E.2d 338 (2002) and Kansas v. Crane, 534 U.S. 407 (2002), Snow argued that the purpose of the SVP Act was not to subject a broad class of dangerous people to confinement, but only those dangerous persons who have a mental disorder with a causal link to the risk of future harm. R. 150, l. 18 – 152, l. 5. In response, the State cited Dr. Gehle’s conclusory testimony that Other Specified Personality Disorder made Snow predisposed to commit future acts of sexual violence. R. 152, l. 9 – 153, l. 6. Agreeing with the State, Judge John denied the directed verdict motion. R. 153, l. 7 – 154, l. 21. Snow renewed his motion at the close of his case and asked for a JNOV after the verdict, both of which were denied. R. 207, l. 17 – 208, l. 22. R. 244, l. 16 – 246, l. 2. Pursuant to Rule 50(e), Judge John did not allow petitioner ten days to make his JNOV motion. R. 244, l. 16 – 245, l. 3. Rule 50(e), SCRCP.

The Decision of the Court of Appeals

The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished opinion without oral argument. App. 1-2. The court treated Snow’s case as a run-of-the-mill sufficiency of the evidence case and failed to address petitioner’s legal and constitutional arguments. App. 1-2. The court failed to cite, distinguish, or address petitioner’s principal case. App. 1-2. The petition for rehearing again brought Snow’s legal and constitutional arguments to the court’s attention. App. 3-8.

Discussion

The State’s diagnosis of “Other” did nothing to differentiate petitioner from any other dangerous recidivist. The State’s diagnosis was too general to demonstrate Snow’s alleged personality disorder was the cause of his risk to commit another sex crime as opposed to any other crime. Dr. Gehle admitted she lacked the evidence necessary to diagnose petitioner with a named personality disorder in the DSM-V, ASPD—which itself is controversial because it describes almost everyone in prison. Because the State’s diagnosis fails to even meet the low threshold of an ASPD

diagnosis which has been held legally insufficient, the lower court erred in not granting Snow a directed verdict.

The diagnosis the State wanted to prove, but could not—ASPD—is heavily criticized because of its failure to sufficiently differentiate potential SVPs from other recidivists. See State v. Donald DD., 24 N.Y.3d 174 (2014). In Donald DD., the New York Court of Appeals recognized that a diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder simply has so little probative value regarding inability to control the commission of sexual crimes that it was legally insufficient to form the basis for commitment. Donald DD., 24 N.Y.3d at 190-92. The New York high court relied on the Due Process Clause and the United States Supreme Court’s decisions in Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346 (1997) and Kansas v. Crane, 534 U.S. 407 (2002). The Fourth Circuit also has criticized the use of antisocial personality disorder for sex offender commitment. United States v. Antone, 742 F.3d 151, 169-70 (4th Cir. 2014) (“What’s more, Antone’s civil commitment is based on two mental disorders that are undisputedly prevalent in the nationwide prison population.”).

In Hendricks, Justice Anthony Kennedy provided the fifth vote in the 5-4 decision of the Court upholding the constitutionality of Kansas’ SVP statute against a challenge that it was punitive and therefore violated the ex post facto and double jeopardy clauses. Hendricks, 521 U.S. at 371-72 (1997). Justice Kennedy wrote separately “to caution against dangers inherent when a civil confinement law is used in conjunction with the criminal process, whether or not the law is given retroactive application.” Id. He concluded his concurrence by stating that if “it were shown that mental abnormality is too imprecise a category to offer a solid basis for concluding that civil detention is justified, our precedents would not suffice to validate it.” Id. at 372. Justice Kennedy’s prescient warning about the imprecision of psychology applies with full force to this case.

The majority in Hendricks wrote extensively about whether the Kansas statute's definition of mental abnormality satisfied substantive due process. Id. at 356-60. Approving the Kansas statute, the Court wrote that it required "evidence of past sexually violent behavior and a present mental condition **that creates** a likelihood of such conduct in the future if the person is not incapacitated." Id. at 357 (emphasis added). Focusing on the lack of control, the Court stated that the "lack of volitional control, coupled with a prediction of future dangerousness, adequately distinguishes Hendricks from other dangerous persons who are perhaps more properly dealt with exclusively through criminal proceedings." Id. at 360. From the Court's opinion, it is clear that due process requires a link between the mental abnormality and the inability to control future sexual behavior.

The Supreme Court refined its holding in Kansas v. Crane, 534 U.S. 407 (2002). The Court rejected the defendant's argument that due process requires the state to prove complete lack of control. Id. at 411. But the Court also rejected the state's argument that it did not have to prove any lack of control. Id. at 412. The Court wrote that the lack of control finding distinguishes dangerous sexual offenders from other persons who are dangerous and this "distinction is necessary lest 'civil commitment' become a 'mechanism for retribution or general deterrence'—functions properly those of criminal law, not civil commitment." Id. In its citation for this sentence, the Court noted a study that found that "40% - 60% of the male prison population is diagnosable with antisocial personality disorder." Id. *citing* Moran, The Epidemiology of Antisocial Personality Disorder, 37 *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology* 231, 234 (1999). The Court further held that there "must be proof of serious difficulty in controlling behavior." Id. at 413. Elaborating, the Court stated that the proof of lack of control

when viewed in light of such features of the case as the **nature of the psychiatric diagnosis, and the severity of the mental abnormality itself**, must be sufficient to distinguish the dangerous sexual offender whose serious mental illness, abnormality, or disorder subjects him to civil commitment **from the dangerous but typical recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal case.**

Id. (emphasis added).

This Court interpreted Crane in In re Treatment and Care of Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 568 S.E.2d 338 (2002). This Court wrote in Luckabaugh, “[W]e believe Crane holds the substantive due process clause requires a court to determine an individual suffers from a mental illness **which makes it** seriously difficult, though not impossible, for that person to control his dangerous propensities.” Luckabaugh at 143, 568 S.E.2d at 348 (emphasis added). “Inherent within the mental abnormality prong of the Act is a lack of control determination” Id. at 144, 568 S.E.2d at 349. Like the United States Supreme Court, this Court requires a link between the mental abnormality or personality disorder and the defendant’s inability to control his sexual impulses. “The purpose of the SVPA is to involuntarily commit only a limited subclass of dangerous persons **and not to broadly subject any dangerous person to what may be an indefinite term of confinement.**” In re Thomas S., 402 S.C. 373, 741 S.E.2d 27 (2013) (internal quotations omitted) (emphasis added).

Dr. Gehle’s diagnosis of Other Specified Personality Disorder is legally insufficient to meet the constitutional and statutory requirement of a “personality disorder that makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence” unless committed. In re Taft, 413 S.C. 16, 22, 774 S.E.2d 462, 465 (2015). Dr. Gehle’s linkage of Other Specified Personality Disorder to petitioner’s lack of control and propensity to commit future crimes was only that “he disregards and violates the rights of others” and sometimes, though not always, had manifested itself in acts of sexual violence in the past. R. 123, l. 16 – 124, l. 5.

By definition, everyone who is convicted of a criminal offense disregards the rights of others. Dr. Gehle's opinions linking "Other" to Snow's lack of self-control were given only in a conclusory manner. Despite her intense questioning during her interview with Snow about his arousal patterns, Dr. Gehle never linked his sexual urges to his crimes. Her general statement about disregarding the rights of others is true about every single crime and says nothing about petitioner's supposed mental disorder or his ability to control his impulses with respect to sex. See State v. Frank P., 2 N.Y.S.3d 483, 493 (App. Div. 2015) (finding government failed to prove defendant had serious difficulty controlling his behavior because of the "conclusory fashion" of the expert opinions).

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