STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Georgetown County
The Honorable Steven J. John, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-001033

RECEIVED
MAR 13 2018
S.C. SUPREME COURT

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT OF DARYL T. SNOW,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly denied Petitioner's directed verdict motion because the expert's diagnosis of Other Specified Personality Disorder is recognized in the mental health field, she followed the DSM-5 criteria in reaching the diagnosis and the credibility of the diagnosis was a matter for the jury.

Petitioner contends the circuit court erred in denying his motion for a directed verdict because the Other Specified Personality Disorder diagnosis is constitutionally and statutorily insufficient as a basis for commitment under the SVPA. He further contends the State's evidence was insufficient because Dr. Gehle did not diagnose any mental disorder of a sexual nature. As a threshold matter, the constitutionality or legality of an Other Specified Personality Disorder diagnosis in SVPA proceedings is not preserved for appeal. Further, Other Specified Personality Disorder is expressly recognized in the DSM-5, Dr. Gehle's testimony sufficiently linked Petitioner's personality disorder to his risk to commit future acts of sexual violence, and the SVPA does not require a mental abnormality or personality disorder "of a sexual nature" as a basis for commitment.

A. Standard of Review

The circuit court must deny a motion for a directed verdict or JNOV if the evidence yields more than one reasonable inference, or its inference is in doubt. Jones v. Builders Inv. Grp., LLC, 415 S.C. 321, 781 S.E.2d 737, 741 (Ct. App. 2015) (*citing* Strange v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp., 314 S.C. 427, 445 S.E.2d 439, 440 [1994]). When reviewing the circuit court's ruling on a directed verdict motion, appellate courts must apply the same standard as the circuit court, and view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most

favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.*; *see also* State v. Larmand, 415 S.C. 23, 780 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2015) (same).

B. Issue Preservation

South Carolina law requires a party to raise an issue and obtain a ruling from the trial judge to preserve an issue for appellate review, which also applies to constitutional issues. State v. Cain, 419 S.C. 24, 795 S.E.2d 846, 851 (2017); State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) (same). Further, the issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court with **sufficient specificity** to bring into focus the **precise** nature of the alleged error so it can be reasonably understood by the court. State v. Daise, 421 S.C. 442, 807 S.E.2d 710, 714 (Ct. App. 2017); State v. Passmore, 363 S.C. 568, 611 S.E.2d 273, 281 (Ct. App. 2005) (the general rule of issue preservation requires an issue to be raised and ruled upon below to be considered on appeal).

At trial, Petitioner never challenged the constitutionality or legality of the Other Specified Personality Disorder diagnosis itself. Rather, in moving for a directed verdict, he argued “there’s a problem with the State’s proof that he suffers from a mental disease or defect that is the cause of the risk,” and there was insufficient “proof here to show a causal link between what the -- the disorder that she believed my client has and the risk of future harm.” (R., pp. 150, 152). In support of his argument, he cited to Kansas v. Crane, 543 U.S. 407 (2002), and In re: Matter of the Care and Treatment of Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 568 S.E.2d 338 (2002), regarding the purpose of sexual predator laws, which is to control a limited sub-class of dangerous persons. (R., p. 151).

In ruling on the motion, the circuit court stated:

[T]here is more than sufficient evidence in the record, under the standard of beyond a reasonable doubt standard, even though that's not my standard, I do find that there is more than sufficient evidence, if it's believed by the jury, that would show, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the - - first - - and it's been admitted - - obviously [Petitioner] has been convicted of sexually violent offenses - - it's in the record and that's - - that has been shown, but the evidence also exists that he does have a personality disorder that makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care and treatment. Dr. Gehle stated that he did suffer from the personality disorder she spoke of, she took into consideration the - - all of the matters before her, she did find, in her opinion, that he was pre-disposed to commit future criminal sexual activities, he's likely to commit sexual violence in the future, he has a propensity to be dangerous, is a menace to the public, he has serious difficulty in controlling his behavior, again, unless he is confined for long-term control, care and treatment, and that outpatient treatment would not be sufficient, that he meets the test to be a - - declared to be a sexually violent predator, and in the dangerous - - that basically any women he focuses on are at risk. I do find, therefore, that the State has produced more than sufficient evidence to survive a direct (sic) verdict motion, and therefore, respectfully decline to grant your motion for directed verdict.

(R., pp. 153-154). Thus, it is clear the circuit court viewed the directed verdict motion as a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, and the Court of Appeals applied the appropriate standard of review for a sufficiency of the evidence issue. Petitioner **never** alleged the Other Specified Personality Disorder itself was unconstitutional or lacked a legal basis, or even sought a ruling on **any** constitutional or legal issue regarding the diagnosis. Therefore, the issue of whether the diagnosis rendered in this case is constitutionally or legally deficient is not preserved for appellate review.

C. Other Specified Personality Disorder

Petitioner's argument regarding the validity of Dr. Gehle's diagnosis blatantly ignores the fact the DSM-5 not only expressly includes Other Specified Personality Disorder as a valid diagnosis, it explains the circumstances under which a clinician could use the diagnosis. Recognizing the complexity of mental health disorders cannot be reduced to simple summaries

of symptoms covering every situation practitioners face, the DSM-5 authors provided two categories designed to “enhance diagnostic specificity.”

To enhance diagnostic specificity, DSM-5 replaces the previous NOS [not otherwise specified] designation with two options for clinical use: *other specified disorder* and *unspecified disorder*. The other specified disorder category is provided to allow the clinician to communicate the specific reason that the presentation does not meet the criteria for any specific category within a diagnostic class. This is done by recording the name of the category, followed by the specific reason. For example, for an individual with clinically significant depressive symptoms lasting 4 weeks but whose symptomatology falls short of the diagnostic threshold for a major depressive episode, the clinician would record “other specified depressive disorder, depressive episode with insufficient symptoms.”

* * * *

The symptoms contained in the respective diagnostic criteria sets do not constitute comprehensive definitions of underlying disorders, which encompass cognitive, emotional, behavioral and physiological processes that are far more complex than can be described in these brief summaries. Rather, they are intended to summarize characteristic syndromes of signs and symptoms that point to an underlying disorder with a characteristic developmental history, biological and environmental risk factors, neuropsychological and physiological correlates, and typical clinical course.

* * * *

Although decades of scientific effort have gone into developing the diagnostic criteria sets for the disorders included in Section II, it is well recognized that this set of categorical diagnoses does not fully describe the full range of mental disorders that individuals experience and present to clinicians on a daily basis throughout the world. As noted previously in the introduction, the range of genetic/environmental interactions over the course of human development affecting cognitive, emotional and behavioral function is virtually limitless. As a result, it is impossible to capture the full range of psychopathology in the categorical diagnostic categories that we are now using. Hence, it is also necessary to include “other specified/unspecified” disorder options for presentations that do not fit exactly into the diagnostic boundaries of disorders in each chapter.

* * * *

Following the assessment of diagnostic criteria, clinicians should consider the application of disorder subtypes and/or specifiers as appropriate. Severity and course specifiers should be applied to denote the individual's current presentation, but only when the full criteria are met. When full criteria are not met, clinicians should consider whether the symptom presentation meets criteria for an "other specified" or "unspecified" designation.

DSM-5, pp. 15-16, 19, 21 (emphasis in original).

In the DSM-5's personality disorder section, Other Specified Personality Disorder (301.89) is described as "presentations in which symptoms characteristic of a personality disorder that **cause clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning** predominate but do not meet the full criteria for any of the disorders in the personality disorders diagnostic class." DSM-5, p. 684 (emphasis added). "The other specified personality disorder is used in situations when the clinician chooses to communicate the specific reason that the presentation does not meet the criteria for any specific personality disorder." *Id.* Therefore, contrary to Petitioner's contention Other Specified Personality Disorder is merely a "catch-all" diagnosis, it is a legitimate diagnosis contained in what Petitioner acknowledged at trial is an "authoritative source" used for diagnosing mental health issues, and it is recognized by the vast majority of mental health practitioners.¹

In support of his argument regarding the validity of the diagnosis at issue, Petitioner cites a quote from United States v. Antone, 742 F.3d 151 (4th Cir. 2014), as evidence the Fourth

¹During his cross-examination of Dr. Gehle, Petitioner had her read a sentence from the DSM-5 regarding personality disorders in the general population, and then had her acknowledge the DSM-5 is a recognized "authoritative source" in the field of mental health. (R., pp. 144-145). On appeal, however, he dismisses the impact of the DSM-5, and argues the fact a diagnosis is in the DSM-5 does not make it a "constitutional" diagnosis. Again, the constitutional issue is not preserved, but having used the validity of the DSM-5 as a sword when it served his purposes at trial, Petitioner cannot diminish its validity because it undermines his position on appeal.

Circuit Court of Appeals criticized the use of ASPD for sexual predator civil commitment, but he takes the cited quote completely out of context, and attempts to elevate dicta to the level of binding authority. In Antone, using the clear error doctrine, the court reversed Antone's civil commitment under the federal sexual predator statute, finding the district court (as factfinder) focused almost exclusively on Antone's pre-incarceration conduct, and failed to properly consider the substantial evidence indicating he had rehabilitated himself while incarcerated. *Id.* at 167-169. Noting the commitment was premised on two mental disorders (paraphilia not otherwise specified and ASPD) prevalent in the prison population, the court concluded the government failed to distinguish Antone from a typical recidivist **in light of the rehabilitation evidence**. *Id.* at 169-170. Contrary to Petitioner's implication, the court did **not** criticize the use of ASPD as a predicate to civil commitment, but merely emphasized the government's burden to prove how a potential committee differs from the typical recidivist.

Petitioner also cites a 2015 law review article to claim the American Psychiatric Association (APA) has "'vociferously opposed SVP laws since their enactment.'" (Brief of Petitioner, p. 16). While it is true the APA opposed the Kansas sexual predator law at issue in Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346 (1997), the cited article is a more about the author's obvious distaste for sexual predator laws, rather than a consensus of the mental health community as it exists today.²

²Significantly, Petitioner cites the APA's original opposition to sexual predator laws to attack the validity of the diagnosis at issue in this case, but completely ignores the thorough discussion in the DSM-V explaining how and when the Other Specified Personality Disorder diagnosis is appropriate.

Indeed, the very title of the article, Dangerous Diagnoses, Risk Assumptions, and the Failed Experiment of “Sexually Violent Predator” Commitment, starkly reveals the author’s inherent bias. Given the number of states with sexual predator laws, calling it a “failed experiment” in general, without any real exploration of the experience in each state, is very telling. As with any state program, the sexual predator civil commitment success/failure rates are affected by numerous factors, including when the review process begins, how the process progresses, and the resources devoted to the program.³

In any event, the validity of sexual predator laws in general is not the issue in this case. Given the DSM-5 inclusion of Other Specified Personality Disorder as a valid diagnosis, and the discussion regarding how and when it can be used, it cannot be seriously disputed the diagnosis is a valid one recognized by the mental health community. Thus, the true issue before the circuit court, the Court of Appeals, and this Court, was, and remains, the sufficiency of the State’s evidence to support the diagnosis and Petitioner’s risk to reoffend sexually.

D. Sufficiency of the Evidence

Petitioner encourages this Court to adopt the reasoning of the New York Court of Appeals in State v. Donald DD, 24 N.Y.3d 174 (2014), rejecting the premise that ASPD alone is sufficient to support civil commitment as a sexually predator, and asserts the State’s evidence failed to distinguish him from any other person convicted of a violent crime, or establish any link between Dr. Gehle’s diagnosis and his risk to reoffend sexually. His argument ignores relevant

³For instance, according to statistics maintained by the Multi-Disciplinary Team and the Attorney General’s Office, South Carolina’s experience with the SVPA belies the author’s multiple assumptions to support his pre-formed conclusions. Under the SVPA, as of December 31, 2018, less than 4% of all inmates reviewed have been committed, and over 36% of those committed have been released based on mental health professionals’ opinions. To date, only five of the released committees have reoffended sexually.

differences between the New York statute at issue in Donald DD and the SVPA, and is premised on an **extremely** truncated version of Dr. Gehle's testimony.

1. Donald DD

In Donald DD, the New York Court of Appeals, in a 4-3 decision, held ASPD alone was legally insufficient to support civil commitment as a sexually dangerous person because it "establishes only a general tendency toward criminality, and has no necessary relationship to a difficulty in controlling one's sexual behavior." As a threshold matter, the New York statute at issue in Donald DD is different from the SVPA. Further, three judges joined in a thoughtful and compelling dissent revealing fundamental flaws in the majority opinion's rationale, and recognizing cases from other jurisdictions holding ASPD is a legally sufficient predicate diagnosis for sexual predator proceedings.

One major difference between the New York and South Carolina statutes is the New York law does **not** expressly reference "personality disorder," while South Carolina's statute expressly includes "personality disorder." *Compare* N.Y Mental Hygiene Law §10.03(e) and (i) (2016) (defining "dangerous sex offender requiring confinement" as a person "suffering from a mental abnormality," and "mental abnormality" as "a congenital or acquired condition, disease or disorder" predisposing the person to commit a sex offense) *with* S.C. Code §44-48-30(1) (Supp. 2016) (defining sexually violent predator as a person who has been convicted of a sexually violent offense and "suffers from a mental abnormality **or personality disorder** that makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence") (emphasis added). South Carolina's statute does not limit "personality disorder" in any way, and therefore, any

diagnosable personality disorder may serve as a predicate to civil commitment under the SVPA if the other statutory elements are established.⁴

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